

Health perceptions, needs, and behaviors of remote rural women of childbearing and childrearing age by Ronda Lynn Bales

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Nursing

Montana State University

© Copyright by Ronda Lynn Bales (2002)

Abstract:

The purpose of this qualitative research study was to explore the health perceptions, needs, and behaviors of remote rural women of childbearing and childrearing, age living in Montana. Little research has focused on this area. Gaining information about rural women in this stage of life may enable health care practitioners to increase health promotion and disease prevention behaviors among their rural female patients and their families.

Qualitative research methods and rural theory provided the underlying framework for this study. A grounded theory approach was used as a means to obtain and analyze data in the discovery of the health perspectives of rural Montana women of childbearing and childrearing age. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with a convenience sample of eleven women age 28 to 49 years who had lived in remote rural communities in Montana for five years or more.

Seven themes emerged from the analysis of the data. They were distance as a way of life, distance as a disadvantage in an emergency, episodic evaluation, children first, prevention for life, access within reason, and holistic health.

The implications of the study for nursing practice include (a) health care providers should remain cognizant of the distance individuals travel to obtain health care, (b) health practitioners need to explore the availability of emergency resources in the local communities of their patients and provide the appropriate education for handling various emergency situations, (c) women should be offered every opportunity for all recommended screening activities appropriate for their age at each visit, and (d) methods for the delivery of health education to rural women should be explored.

Furthermore, implications for nursing research include (a) a need for continued research regarding distance and the utilization of health care services, (b) the impact of stress on rural women and their health status, and (c) the exploration of health perceptions of women of childbearing/childrearing age who suffer from chronic illness. An understanding of how rural women perceive health is important for designing and delivering health care services and for providing the highest level of quality health care.

HEALTH PERCEPTIONS, NEEDS, AND BEHAVIORS OF REMOTE RURAL WOMEN OF CHILDBEARING AND CHILDREARING AGE

by

Ronda Lynn Bales

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

Master of Science

in

Nursing

MONTANA STATE UNIVERSITY Bozeman, Montana

May 2002

© COPYRIGHT

by

Ronda Lynn Bales

2002

All Rights Reserved

N378 B1956

APPROVAL

of a thesis submitted by

Ronda Lynn Bales

This thesis has been read by each member of the thesis committee and has been found to be satisfactory regarding content, English usage, format, citations, bibliographic style, and consistency, and is ready for submission to the College of Graduate Studies.

Dr. Charlene Winters

(Signature)

Approved for the Department of Nursing

Dr. Lea Acord

(Signature)

Date

5-10-02

Date

Approved for the College of Graduate Studies

Dr. Bruce McLeod Spice 8. M Lood 6-13-02 (Signature) Date

STATEMENT OF PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a master's degree at Montana State University, I agree that the Library shall make it available to borrowers under rules of the Library.

If I have indicated my intention to copyright this thesis by including a copyright notice page, copying is allowable only for scholarly purposes, consistent with "fair use" as prescribed in the U.S. Copyright Law. Requests for permission for extended quotation from or reproduction of this thesis in whole or in parts may be granted only by the copyright holder.

Signature	Ronda	J. Balis	
Date	5/10/02		

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I gratefully acknowledge my family, friends, and classmates who supported and encouraged me throughout my project. I especially thank my husband Chad for enduring the process of my education, and my parents, Ron and Sandy Munson. The continuous support and encouragement of my family made this endeavor possible.

I wish to thank the members of my thesis committee, Dr. Charlene Winters, Dr. Helen Lee, and Dr. Vonna Branam. Thank you all for your guidance, expertise, and support. I am especially grateful to my chairperson, Dr. Winters, for her patience and ability to keep me focused during the research process.

Special thanks also to the rural women who were willing to share their experiences with me resulting in the completion of my thesis and adding to the field of nursing research and practice.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Page
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	PURPOSE OF STUDY	4
	THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVE	4
	DEFINING RURAL	. 6
	DEFINITION OF TERMS	. 7
	ASSUMPTIONS	
2.	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	10
	RURAL HEALTH	10
	DISTANCE AND SELF-CARE	. 11
	EVALUATING ILLNESS AND INFORMAL SUPPORT NETWORKS	. 17
	SELF-CARE AND SELF-RELIANCE	18
	DEFINITION OF HEALTH	
	WOMEN, STRESS, AND ILLNESS EPISODES	
	SUMMARY	
3.	METHODOLOGY	. 29
	INTRODUCTION	. 29
	SAMPLE	. 29
	HUMAN SUBJECTS PROTECTION	30
	DATA COLLECTION	
	DATA ANALYSIS	
4.	FINDINGS OF THE STUDY	35
	DEMOGRAPHICS	35
	EMERGENT THEMES	39
	DISTANCE AS A WAY OF LIFE	40
	Routine Health Care	41
]	Childbirth	
	Chronic Illness	
	DISTANCE AS A DISADVANTAGE IN AN EMERGENCY	
	EPISODIC EVALUATION.	
(CHILDREN FIRST	
	PREVENTION FOR LIFE	55

TABLE OF CONTENTS - CONTINUED

ACCESS WITHIN REASON	59
HOLISTIC HEALTH	
SUMMARY	64
5. DISCUSSION	68
INTRODUCTION	68
EVALUATION OF FINDINGS	69
Health Perceptions	69
Health Needs	70
Health Behaviors	
Influence of Health Perceptions on Health Behaviors	
LIMITATIONS	
IMPLICATIONS FOR NURSING PRACTICE	79
IMPLICATIONS FOR NURSING RESEARCH	
CONCLUSIONS	82
REFERENCES	83
APPENDICES	89
APPENDIX A	
Consent Form	90
APPENDIX B	
Interview Schedule	94
APPENDIX C	
Demographic Data Sheet	99

vii

LIST OF TABLES

Table	,	Page
1. Age Categories	of Rural Sample (N = 11)	35
2. Education Leve	l of Rural Sample (N = 11)	36
3. Number of Chil	dren in the Home	37
4. Age Categories	of Children Living at Home (N = 23)	37
5. Years Lived in t	he Rural Community (N = 11)	37
	s & Travel Time One Way for Emergency Care	39

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this qualitative research study was to explore the health perceptions, needs, and behaviors of remote rural women of childbearing and childrearing age living in Montana. Little research has focused on this area. Gaining information about rural women in this stage of life may enable health care practitioners to increase health promotion and disease prevention behaviors among their rural female patients and their families.

Qualitative research methods and rural theory provided the underlying framework for this study. A grounded theory approach was used as a means to obtain and analyze data in the discovery of the health perspectives of rural Montana women of childbearing and childrearing age. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with a convenience sample of eleven women age 28 to 49 years who had lived in remote rural communities in Montana for five years or more.

Seven themes emerged from the analysis of the data. They were distance as a way of life, distance as a disadvantage in an emergency, episodic evaluation, children first, prevention for life, access within reason, and holistic health.

The implications of the study for nursing practice include (a) health care providers should remain cognizant of the distance individuals travel to obtain health care, (b) health practitioners need to explore the availability of emergency resources in the local communities of their patients and provide the appropriate education for handling various emergency situations, (c) women should be offered every opportunity for all recommended screening activities appropriate for their age at each visit, and (d) methods for the delivery of health education to rural women should be explored.

Furthermore, implications for nursing research include (a) a need for continued research regarding distance and the utilization of health care services, (b) the impact of stress on rural women and their health status, and (c) the exploration of health perceptions of women of childbearing/childrearing age who suffer from chronic illness. An understanding of how rural women perceive health is important for designing and delivering health care services and for providing the highest level of quality health care.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Montana is a rural state characterized by vast open spaces, a sparse population, and large geographical distances between many of its cities and towns. An estimated 70% of the state's population live in towns with less than 15,000 inhabitants and 80% of Montana communities have a population of less than 3,000 people. An estimated 12.3% of Montanans lack access to primary care (Montana Office of Rural Health, 1999). Of the fifty-six counties in the state, thirty-five have been designated Health Professional Shortage Areas (HPSA). The designation of an HPSA indicates that the area has decreased access and availability to health care providers and health services. Thus, rural dwellers likely make up a significant portion of those who lack access to primary care in the state.

Nursing researchers have suggested that rural individuals differ from their urban counterparts and applying urban models of health care to rural individuals may not be ideal (Long, 1993; Weinert & Burnam, 1994; Weinert & Long, 1990). Rural health research has indicated that the health perceptions of rural individuals may also be unique when compared to the perceptions of persons living in urban areas. Aspects common to rural dwellers included their definition of health as the ability to work, reliance on self and informal systems, and decreased willingness to use health care services provided by "outsiders" (Weinert & Long). The unique aspects of rural dwellers may impact how and when they seek health care. Internal factors such as self-reliance and reliance on informal

support systems of family, friends, and neighbors, may lead to a delay in seeking formal health care services (Long, 1993). These factors, as well as external factors including distance and lack of adequate health care resources, may put the rural individual at increased risk for illness, disability, and premature death (Long, 1993; Veitch, 1995).

Rural dwellers in general, have often been compared to urban individuals in terms of health behaviors and access to health care (Bushy, 1994b; Long, 1993). To some extent, there has been a lesser focus on rural women. Less research has been directed at the impact of rurality on the health of midlife women or those of childbearing and childrearing age (Hemard, Monroe, Atkinson, & Blalock, 1998). Women of childbearing/childrearing age, regardless of geographic location, have common health care needs. Early detection and treatment of diseases common in women, such as breast and cervical cancer, can reduce death and disability associated with these diseases. Screening tests are available to detect these diseases. However, access to care has been found to be a factor that influences whether or not women participate in the screening processes for breast and cervical cancer (Wilcox & Mosher, 1993; Nuovo, Melnikow, & Howell, 2001). Although the gap is narrowing, rural women continue to have more children than their urban counterparts as well as experience their first pregnancy at an earlier age (Bescher-Donnelly & Smith, 1981). Therefore, in addition to screening for cervical and breast cancer, and general health maintenance, women in this stage of life may have needs for adequate birth control, family planning, prenatal care, and childbirth education.

Women of childbearing/childrearing age may experience stress as a result of multiple demands placed them by family relationships and home and work responsibilities (Kenney, 2000; Bigbee, 1984). The number of women working outside the home has steadily risen and rural women account for a significant portion of this growth (Walters & McKenry, 1985). Rural women have less educational opportunities and less occupational choices and therefore often work at low-wage jobs (Bescher-Donnely & Smith, 1981). Rural women working outside the home also have fewer provisions for quality child care (Bigbee, 1984). These factors, added to the primary responsibilities for home and family management intensify the multiplicity of roles experienced by rural women. Research has indicated that stress and illness may be closely related and multiple stressors can compromise the immune system therefore putting the individual at increased risk for acute and chronic illnesses (Kenney, 2000).

Women oversee their own health care as well as the health care of their family members. Rural women often act as health officers or gatekeepers of health care for the entire family (Bushy, 1993a; Hemard et al., 1998; Tevis, 1994a; Ross, 1982). Therefore, the manner in which women conceptualize health is integral to the health and health practices of the family. However, women's perceptions of health have rarely been solicited (Bushy, 1993b; Bushy, 1994a; Ross, 1982).

Long (1993) has emphasized the importance of providing care consistent with the way rural individuals conceptualize health. To provide health care that is congruent with the unique aspects of rural women of childbearing/childrearing age, it is necessary to understand their health perceptions, needs, and behaviors. Little has been written about

the health perspectives of women of childbearing/childrearing age in remote rural areas of Montana. Gaining information about rural women in this stage of life may enable health care practitioners to increase health promotion and disease prevention behaviors among their rural female patients and their families.

Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study was to explore the health perceptions, needs, and behaviors of remote rural women of childbearing/childrearing age living in Montana.

The research questions guiding this study were 1) How do rural childbearing/childrearing women perceive and conceptualize health? 2) What are the health needs of rural women of childbearing/childrearing age? 3) What are the health behaviors of rural childbearing/childrearing women? 4) How do the health perceptions and conceptualizations of rural childbearing/childrearing women influence their health behaviors?

Theoretical Perspective

Qualitative research and rural theory provided the underlying framework for this study. Qualitative health research focuses on the experiences of people in relation to health and illness (Orb, Eisenhauer, & Wynaden, 2001). Qualitative research methods are used to explore and examine people and their natural environments with the purpose of describing a phenomenon from the participants' point of view through interviews and observations. The knowledge gained through interviews with individuals affects our

understanding of the human experience (Chenitz & Swanson, 1986; Strauss & Corbin, 1990; Orb et al., 2001).

There is a paucity of information on the health of rural women in Montana.

Grounded theory as a qualitative research approach provides a method for health researchers to build theories in previously unexplored or under explored areas (Byrne, 2001). Schatzman and Strauss (1973) state that grounded theory allows for the direct examination of the world of rural residents in a naturalistic way.

A grounded theory approach was used for this study. The purpose of the grounded theory method is to generate a theory, rather than test a theory, to explain the phenomena under study (Chenitz & Swanson, 1996; Hutchinson, 1986). Grounded theory provides a means for examining phenomena that are not measurable by quantitative methods and is an alternative approach for exploring complex problems and issues (Chenitz & Swanson). Thus, grounded theory lends itself well to the discovery of perspectives on health. Grounded theory was developed by two sociologists, Glaser and Strauss in the 1960s (Strauss & Corbin, 1990). Grounded theory is based on the assumption that the group being studied shares a psychosocial problem that has been under explored and articulated. The grounded theory method uses a "from practice to theory" approach, using everyday experiences and behaviors to generate theory (Hutchinson, 1986, p. 113).

Qualitative methods and the grounded theory approach provided a meaningful technique for exploring the health perceptions, needs, and behaviors of rural women.

Through exploration of those health perceptions, needs, and behaviors, the goal of understanding how the women conceptualized health and made decisions regarding health was realized.

Defining Rural

According to the United States (U.S.) Census Bureau (2000), the population density of Montana is 6.2 persons per square mile. Montana is considered a rural state, however the definition of rural remains muddled. There are a variety of definitions and ideas about what constitutes rural. A number of government agencies and rural researchers from various disciplines have struggled, and continue to struggle, to provide a consistent definition for the term rural. The U.S. Census Bureau defines rural in terms of what is not urban. Although currently under revision, rural is designated as places with less than 2,500 inhabitants (U.S. Census Bureau, 2000). In Montana, almost half of its population, 47%, is considered rural as compared to 25.1% for the U.S. as a whole (Montana Office of Rural Health, 1999).

Sociologists have discussed the meaning of rural within the context of ecological, occupational, and sociocultural dimensions (Bealer, Willits, &Kuvlesky, 1965). Health researchers have often defined rural with reference to population as well as distance or time traveled to larger urbanized areas (Bushy, 1994a; Henson, Sadler, & Walton, 1998; Koehler, 1998; Veitch, 1995). In regards to population density, urban refers to areas with one hundred or more people per square mile; rural areas are those with six to ninety-nine people per square mile; and frontier applies to areas with less than six people per square

mile (Bushy, 1993a; Elison, 1986 as cited in Lee, 1991a). In addition to the numerous written definitions of rural, consideration must be given to the subjective meaning of rural. To those who live in rural areas, rural is a way of life. Lee (1985) characterized the subjective context of rural by stating that for some, rural is "a place to get away from," while for others it may mean "a place to get away to" (p. 16). Scharff (1998) states that "being rural means being a long way from anywhere and pretty close to nowhere" (p. 21).

Koehler (1995) developed definitions of urban, rural, and remote rural that included the dimensions of population, availability of health care services, and distance to the nearest urbanized area. Defining rural based on population or population density alone is problematic when examining issues related to health care. For example, there are a number of small communities in Montana that may be considered rural on the basis of population or population density but are within a few minutes driving time from a larger town or city that has comprehensive health care services. Therefore, for the purpose of this study the definitions of urban, rural, and remote rural were based on the work of Koehler (see definition of terms below).

Definition of Terms

<u>Urban</u>. Urban was defined as a community with a population of 50,000 or greater that contains one or more hospitals with 100 beds or greater (Koehler, 1995). An urban community has two or more medical clinics with a variety of physicians who are able to

provide comprehensive medical services. There are a number of specialists available for referral and consultation.

Rural. Rural was defined as a community with a population of 10,000 or less located 15 miles or more from a city with a population of 50,000 or greater (Koehler, 1995). A rural community has a critical access facility or a hospital with no more than 100 beds. At least one physician resides and practices within the community. Small communities that do not have a practicing physician, critical access facility, or hospital, but lie within a 15-to 39-mile radius of a neighboring urban community also were defined as rural.

Remote Rural. Remote rural was defined as a community with a population of 2,500 or less (Koehler, 1995). Remote rural communities must be located 40 miles or further from a city with a population of 50,000 or greater. A remote rural community does not have a local hospital, a critical access facility, or a practicing physician.

Health Perceptions. Health perceptions were broadly defined as any subjectively determined beliefs, ideas, definitions, or attitudes regarding all aspects of health and illness. Health perceptions included an evaluation of one's own health.

Health Needs. "Health needs were broadly defined as any subjectively determined want, concern, issue, or condition arising within the context of promoting, maintaining, restoring, and managing one's own health or well being" (Koehler, 1998, p. 239).

Health Behaviors. Health behaviors were defined as any identified ways in which individuals manage, maintain, promote, or restore health (Koehler, 1998). Health behaviors also involve ways in which individuals respond to illness or injuries, including

but not limited to, who they turn to for health related issues and when and under what circumstances they access health care.

<u>Childbearing/Childrearing Age</u>. Childbearing/childrearing age was defined as women 18 to 49 years of age.

Assumptions

Three assumptions underlie this work. First, given that Montana is a rural state with 35 of its 56 counties designated as Health Professional Shortage Areas and 50% of its population are women, the assumption was made that there were a meaningful number of women age 18-49 years living in remote rural areas of Montana. Secondly, it was assumed that grounded theory was an appropriate approach for the purpose of this study. Lastly, it was assumed that the participants selected would be willing and able to provide information regarding their health perceptions, needs, and behaviors.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Two main areas of literature were reviewed for this project. The first area selected for review was the rural health literature. The rural health literature review included information about the concepts of distance, self-care and self-reliance, illness evaluation and informal support networks, access to care, and definitions of health. The second area of literature reviewed addressed issues related to women's stress and illness experience.

Rural Health

There is a growing body of literature that addresses rural health. The origin of the literature seems to be rooted in the fact that unlike the health issues of urban dwellers, aspects central to the health of rural dwellers have not been adequately articulated. Rural health authors and researchers have identified a variety of concepts that may be unique to rural life and factors that may impact health care for rural dwellers. These are access to care, distance, self-care, informal support networks, self-reliance, hardiness, and definitions of health.

Access to care has been discussed at some length in the literature. Factors found to impact access to care include, but are not limited to, distance, lack of transportation, weather, a shortage of health care providers, economic hardship, and lack of insurance (Ballantyne, 1998; Bushy, 1994a; Bushy, 1994b; Long, 1993; Shreffler, 1996; Weinert &

Long, 1990). It is clear that these are issues that rural dwellers face when seeking health care. However, it remains controversial as to whether or not these factors act as barriers to rural individuals seeking health care or if health care utilization is ultimately affected.

Distance and Self-Care

Distance is a concept repeatedly addressed in the rural health literature. While some authors (Bartlome, Bartlome, & Bradham, 1992; Tevis, 1994b; Veitch, 1995; Wamsley, 1978) report that there is less utilization of health care services as the distance to services increase, others (Bushy,1993a; Hassinger & Hobbs, 1973; Kreher, Hickner, Ruffin, & Shen Lin, 1995) report that it is not a factor that impacts whether or not rural dwellers seek care.

Veitch (1995) found a consistent trend of decreasing willingness to seek care for injuries when distance to medical care increased. The study, which included interviews with 801 individuals from two rural areas in Queensland, Australia, was designed to examine how rural and remote rural individuals responded to three common injuries of increasing levels of severity. The interviewees lived in either the coastal (rural) or inland (remote rural) areas of Queensland, Australia. Participants in the coastal or rural areas lived increasing distances from permanently staffed medical facilities; within 25 kilometers; 25-50 kilometers; and beyond 50 kilometers. Participants from the inland or remote rural areas lived even further from permanently staffed medical facilities; within 50 kilometers; 50-100 kilometers; and beyond 100 kilometers. Interviewees were presented with descriptions of three injuries of increasing severity. The injuries included

a broken limb, a facial cut, and a puncture wound. At each stage of increasing severity of the injury, participants were asked which of the following eight actions they would take: wait and see; home treatment; seek advice from family/friend; have problem checked at next visit to doctor; have problem seen in the next few days; have problem seen within twenty-four hours; telephone doctor for advice; or go to doctor immediately. Veitch found that in the inland areas, where medical services are more limited and distant, remote rural individuals were less likely to seek immediate care for each injury than their costal or rural counterparts. As distance from health care services increased, inland or remote rural individuals consistently indicated that they were less willing to seek professional care, especially for less severe stages of each injury. Veitch concluded that generally, those further from medical care, especially inland or remote rural residents, delayed seeking health care, regardless of how serious an injury was, and sought health care less often than those living in the coastal areas where medical services were closer and more prevalent. However, Veitch found that although remote rural residents may delay seeking care, increasing distance from medical care did not deter them from calling for advice before seeking care for more serious injuries.

Bartlome et al. (1992) found that frontier dwellers (those living in an area with less than six people per square mile) often practiced informal health interventions on their own, such as self-medicating, when they analyzed self-care and illness responses in this population. The data were obtained from a questionnaire completed by a random sample of 416 adults in a frontier area of north-central Idaho. The participants were asked to recall their most recent illness episode and report their first response. Responses were

reported in regards to whether they waited to see what happened, took a nonprescription medication, took a prescription medication they had on hand, took both types of medications, contacted a physician, or went to a hospital. The behaviors were then labeled as no intervention (waiting), informal intervention (self-medication), or formal intervention (contacting a physician or going to the hospital). They found that waiting as a response to a medical event occurred more often in those who were older, lived further from the local hospital, perceived a better health status, were less satisfied with community health services, and reported appropriate self-care behaviors. Informal interventions or self medication occurred more frequently in younger people and in those who lived further from the local hospital, perceived a better health status, rated emergency services with less satisfaction, and in those who self-medicated appropriately. Formal interventions, including contacting a physician or going to the hospital, occurred more often for those who had lived in the community longer, perceived poor health status, used more prescription medications, demonstrated appropriate illness response of contacting formal providers, and viewed a shortage of physicians in the community as a serious service problem. More than 56% of the frontier residents reported selfmedicating behaviors or informal intervention as the first response to medical events. Self-medicating behaviors were practiced more often by those who lived farthest away from formal health care providers. These findings support that distance does play a role in illness behavior and response.

Walmsley (1978) examined the influence of distance on hospital usage. The data were obtained from hospital records from in-patients and out-patients who voluntarily

presented to the Coffs Harbour and District Hospital in rural New South Wales. The random sample included records for treatments performed for 676 out-patients and 1,162 treatments for in-patients. Wamsley calculated hospital usage for the populations of eighteen small towns in the region within distances of up to 100 kilometers of the hospital. He tested two hypothesis in the study: (a) the nearer a patient lives to a hospital, the shorter the duration of hospitalization per admission; (b) the nearer a patient lives to a hospital, the more likely he is to be referred for treatment. Wamsley found no correlation between living closer to the hospital and shorter length of hospital stay per admission. However, he found that the chances of admission to a hospital diminished the further a patient lived from a hospital. Wamsley referred to this finding as distance decay and suggested that individuals who live some distance from formal health care services may have unfulfilled health care needs or are more restricted in their health care choices.

Koehler (1995) used grounded theory to examine how urban, rural, and remote rural elders managed their health care needs. The sample of both healthy and health-compromised individuals included ten urban dwellers, nine rural dwellers, and eleven remote rural dwellers in Montana. Koehler found that distance was more of an inconvenience rather than a significant barrier to accessing care. Rural and remote rural residents viewed distance as a fact of life and were accustomed to traveling long distances for health care. Although distance did not act as a barrier to health care, Koehler found that rural dwellers were affected by expenses related to traveling long distances to access care. Longer distances to health care were found to involve expenses related with travel as well as expenses incurred with food and lodging for overnight stays. In addition,

although rural dwellers were accustomed to traveling long distances for health care, they identified distance as a disadvantage in the event of an "emergent illness episode" (p. 100). Rural individuals were further from emergency care and they realized this put them at risk for death if they experienced and "emergent illness episode." However, it was found that remote rural residents accepted this as "a way of life" (p. 100).

Similar to the findings of Koehler (1995), Bushy (1993a) reported in her writings on rural health that perception of distance is unique to rural life and that traveling 100 miles or more for care may not be far, especially if several tasks can be accomplished in one trip. Koehler reported that people traveling for health care often made reference to "making a day of it" (p. 100).

Hassinger and Hobbs (1973) studied the relationship between availability of health care services in a rural area to the pattern of health care utilization. The data were obtained from surveys of 951 households in four rural communities in south central Missouri with varying levels of health care services. The four Ozark communities had populations of 266 residents, 420 residents, 3,176 residents, and 5,386 residents, with the largest town centrally located at a distance of 35 to 40 miles from each of the smaller communities. All four towns were located 60 to 110 miles from the nearest metropolitan center. Hassinger and Hobbs hypothesized that the use of health care services would be directly related to the health care services available within the communities. However, they found that the location of health care services did not significantly impact whether or not rural dwellers sought care if there was a perceived need for health care services. They reported the rural individuals in their study traveled to a variety of communities to obtain

the health care services they needed and that the people were accustomed to traveling to satisfy their health care needs. Hassinger and Hobbs also reported that the effort of rural dwellers to utilize resources to obtain health care services was related to their perceived need for the service.

Kreher et al. (1995) studied the effect of distance and travel time on compliance with mammography screening in rural women. Questionnaires were given to 474 women aged 40 years and older, without a history of cancer, who visited a network of family practice providers in rural northern Michigan. The questionnaire included three areas: patient demographics, questions about the individual's knowledge and attitudes regarding mammography screening, and questions regarding geographic barriers to mammography. Kreher et al. found that distance, travel time, and transportation did not have an impact on women's compliance with mammography. Kreher et al. did report that 74% of the women in the study resided 20 miles or less from a mammography facility and acknowledged that distance could be a major barrier for mammography screening in rural areas where public transportation is lacking and where there are considerable travel times to health care facilities. They also noted that the high screening rate in this rural sample may have been related to a strong, positive physician influence for mammography and strong motivation of the participants to seek health care. Contrary to these findings, Tevis (1994b), reported in an article on breast cancer screening that 56% of rural women over age 40 have regular mammograms compared to 66% of urban women. The lower rate of mammography in rural women reported in this article was attributed to distance, time, and transportation as well as poor insurance coverage.

Henson, Sadler, and Walton (1998), in their concept analysis of distance, identified the essential attributes of distance as mileage, time, and perception. They suggested that the rural individual's resources and perception of distance influenced the degree of difficulty the rural resident had in overcoming distance.

Although distance is a factor that is encountered by rural dwellers when seeking health care, it is unclear as to whether or not it impacts utilization of services and to what degree it affects health seeking behaviors (Fiedler, 1981; Shreffler, 1996). However, an individual's perception of distance appears to be an important aspect to consider in relation to the utilization of health care services.

Evaluating Illness and Informal Support Networks

The literature suggests that rural dwellers determine which type of illness symptoms can be temporized and which require more prompt attention. In making such a determination, people often turn to an informal network of advisors. Long (1993) suggested that rural dwellers, through their experience, learn to differentiate illnesses or injuries that can be temporized from those that hinder functioning. Factors such as lack of health insurance and sick days that resulted from land based work or self-employment, as well as long distances to formal health care, may impact how rural individuals address illness. Long found that rural dwellers often turned to informal health care providers such as family, neighbors, and friends because they were more accessible and affordable. Koehler (1995) found that both rural and urban elders gauged the seriousness of their illness then decided on a course of action. While gauging the seriousness of an illness, it

was found that urban and rural elders consulted with family members, friends, or other informal providers to help them determine the seriousness of the illness and what to do about it.

Lee (1991b) in relation to her work on hardiness, suggested that rural individuals may delay seeking formal health care when symptoms of illness initially appear. Buehler, Malone, and Majerus (1998) identified that rural women evaluated the symptoms of illness in a manner they referred to as the Symptom-Action-Time-Line (SATL) process. The stages of the SATL process include symptom identification, self-care, lay resources, and professional resources. "Each stage has a time period (time-line) in which the participant takes actions in response to a symptom, evaluates the effectiveness of the actions in resolving the symptom, and decides whether to go on to the next stage" (p. 321). Their findings indicated that rural women evaluated their symptoms and made decisions based on their previous experiences about when and how to respond to a health problem.

Self-care and Self-reliance

Bushy (1994b) discussed in her writings that rural individuals practice self-care behaviors and prefer informal support networks over formal networks. Self-care behaviors, those things people do for themselves, are common among rural individuals (Bartlome et al., 1992; Veitch, 1995). Another concept identified in the rural literature is self-reliance, an expression of autonomy (Chafey, Sullivan, & Shannon, 1998). Chafey et al. found self-reliance to be prominent attribute of elderly rural women in Montana.

Weinert and Burnam (1994) reported that although patterns related to self-reliance and self-care practices were reported in the literature, little research has actually been done to corroborate these identified concepts or compare and contrast them to the patterns of urban residents.

Definition of Health

Rural authors and researchers state that rural dwellers often define health as the ability to work (Bushy, 1994b; Stein, 1989; Weinert & Long, 1987). Lee (1989) quantified rural men and women's health perceptions using Engel's (1984) Health Perception Questionnaire and Laffrey's (1985) Health Conception Scale which was developed using Smith's (1981) four model's of health. Smith's (1981) four models of health included the eudaimonistic, adaptive, role-performance, and clinical models. Lee found that men and older rural individuals perceived health within the role performance model while women perceived health within the adaptive model. Therefore, Lee reported that the definition of health as the ability to work may be more applicable to men and older rural dwellers than to rural women and recommended that further studies examine health views of women and younger populations. The rural dweller's definition of health may play an important role in determining their health needs.

Research has shown that rural individuals are less likely to be insured than their urban counterparts (Bushy, 1993a; Bushy, 1994b; Edwards, Shuman, & Glen, 1996; Long, 1993; Rosenblatt & Moscovice, 1982; Shreffler, 1996; Weinert & Long, 1987). Lack of insurance may be an outcome of type of work common in rural areas, such as

farming, ranching, and small businesses, that do not provide health benefits (Bushy, 1994b; Long, 1993; Weinert & Long, 1987). Lack of insurance may have an impact on how individuals seek health care.

Women, Stress, and Illness Episodes

Although women were discussed in the rural literature, there was little information that specifically addressed the health perceptions, needs, or behaviors of rural women of childbearing and childrearing age. Even less information was found on health issues related to rural women in Montana, particularly for women of childbearing and childrearing age. However, a number of research articles were found that addressed role multiplicity, stress, and illness and the impact of rurality on stress and illness in women.

There are a large number of women living in nonmetropolitan areas in the United States. The population of rural women in the United States is composed of farm women as well as non-farm women. Bescher-Donnelly and Smith (1981) point out that the term "rural woman" is not synonymous with "farm wife" and "the roles and responsibilities of women in rural areas today are much more complex and diversified than this image suggests" (p. 167).

No research studies regarding rural women were found that addressed issues such as participation in the labor force, economic status, or involvement in the education system. However, several authors have written about these issues and their relationship to rural women (Bescher-Donnelly, & Smith, 1981; Bigbee, 1987; Bigbee, 1998; Mansfield, Preston, & Crawford, 1988; Walters & McKenry, 1985). Bescher-Donnelly

and Smith (1981) discussed that although rural women are working outside the home in increasing numbers, they have a limited range of occupations to choose from and often work in low-wage jobs with little opportunity for advancement. They suggested that rural women experience both economic and occupational disadvantages as compared to urban women.

Walters and McKenry (1985) were prompted, as a result of the increasing number of rural women entering the work force, to do a study to determine if "factors descriptive of work-family role integration" (p. 1067) were more predictive of life satisfaction for rural women employed outside the home than urban women employed outside the home. The sample consisted of 237 randomly selected rural and urban mothers from intact families employed part-time or full-time and who had at least one child involved in a 4-H program in the state of Ohio. The participants completed a questionnaire that contained three standardized instruments: Keith and Schafer's Role Strain Scale (1980); Scanzoni's Sex Role Modernity Scale (1978); and Housekencht and Roger's Autonomy Scale (1979). Additional questions were added to elicit information on other factors that may influence life satisfaction and employment outside the home. The findings of the study supported the greater significance of "work-family role integration to the life satisfaction" (p. 1067) for rural women employed outside the home in comparison to employed urban women. However, Walters and McKenry also noted that the factors the rural women identified as having the greatest impact on employment and life satisfaction were specifically related to the job rather than family and peer support as they found other literature had suggested.

When rural women enter the workforce, their roles and responsibilities increase. Woods (1980) studied the effect of role proliferation on the health status of women and their illness experiences. Ninety-six married women, between 20 and 38 years of age, completed an adapted version of the family health diary developed by Roghmann and Haggerty (1972). Information recorded addressed tension and stress levels within the household, health care received by the family, each family member's health status, presence of symptoms for family members, and whether or not anything was done to relieve the symptoms. The diary was kept for a three week period. An illness episode was defined as any sequence of days in which symptoms were recorded in the diary. Of the 96 women in the study, only 2 enacted the single role of spouse; twenty-three of the women in the study enacted the roles of spouse and mother; 28 performed the roles of spouse and employee; and 43 identified themselves in all three roles of spouse, mother, and employee. Although Woods had hypothesized that role proliferation along with sex role norm traditionalism, lack of role reinforcement, and feelings of failure, would have a negative affect on the women's health status and be associated with an increased number of illness episodes, no such relationship was found. Woods also found that role proliferation alone did not negatively impact health status and was not associated with the number of illness episodes experienced by the women.

An association between stress and illness has been noted in the literature. Kenney (2000) compared the stressors, personality traits, and health problems of women in different age groups. A questionnaire was completed by 299 women between 18 and 66 years of age who lived in the south-western United States. The sample was divided into

three age groups: young women who were 18 to 29 years of age; middle-age women who were 30 to 45 years of age; and older women who were 46 to 66 years of age. The questionnaire contained five sections including demographic information; daily hassles, chronic and acute stressors; personality mediating traits; common physical and emotional symptoms; and the inner balance index which was adapted from Eliot's Quality of Life Index (1995). The young women reported high stressors, often related to work and financial problems, and reported more emotional and physical symptoms than middleaged and older women. Kenney concluded that the young women were at risk for stressrelated illnesses. Although the middle-aged women reported the most stressors, she found that they had stronger personality traits that acted as strengths which likely buffered the stressors and contributed to fewer symptoms. Kenney suggested that although middle-aged women exhibited fewer illness related symptoms, they still needed help in reducing their stressors. The older population of women reported the least number of stressors, had the strongest personality traits, and reported fewer illness related symptoms than young and middle-aged women. Kenney suggested that middle-aged women likely had the highest level of stressors as a result of role multiplicity as wife, mother, employee, student, and caretakers of elderly parents. Kenney found that the women's major stressors were associated with their roles and relationships of wife, mother, and employee and that women's perceptions of their spouses' support and involvement with caring for children and assisting with housework had a significant impact on their health. Other factors that affected women's health were employment stressors including low wages and high work demands. Kenney also found that healthy personality traits, such as

assertiveness, optimism, self-confidence, and flexibility positively affected the women's health status while unhealthy traits, such as perfectionism, pessimism, and low self-confidence, negatively impacted the women's health status.

Bigbee (1988) conducted a pilot study that examined the relationships between rurality, stress, and illness in women. Bigbee discussed that rural life, with its emphasis on independence and self-sufficiency, may enhance coping mechanisms when dealing with stress. At the same time, rural life may be associated with unique stressors and may require the utilization of coping mechanisms specific to the culture of rural life. Rural stressors identified by Bigbee were weather conditions, family life, and the women's role in rural society. The non-random sample in Bigbee's study consisted of 13 adult women living in the central Texas area with diverse demographic backgrounds. The sample included urban and rural women, women who were working and women who were not working, women with children of various ages, varying marital status, socioeconomic status, and ethnic backgrounds. The women completed a questionnaire that included demographic data, a modified version of Norbeck's Life Experiences Survey for Women (1984), and a modified version of the Seriousness of Illness Scale from Wyler et al. (1968). In this pilot study, Bigbee found that for both urban and rural women, stressful life events tended to center around work, health, and personal-social concerns. Predominate stressors for rural women included financial and environmental issues while predominate stressors for urban women centered on parenting, family, and friends. Bigbee suggested that patterns and types of stressful life events may be different for rural women than they are for urban women. In examining rurality, stress, and illness, Bigbee

did not find any significant correlations between rurality and higher or lower levels of stressful events or illness.

In a retrospective comparative study, Bigbee (1987) looked at the levels of stressful life events in 157 rural and urban women. The random sample consisted of 80 rural women 18 to 50 years of age living in Saratoga, Wyoming and an urban sample of 77 women living in Casper, Wyoming. The questionnaire included demographic information and a modified version of Norbeck's Life Experiences Survey for Women (1984). Bigbee found no significant difference in the levels of stressful life events for urban and rural women. She also found that the reported categories of stressful life events were similar for rural and urban women. The most frequently reported stressors for the rural sample in descending order were environment, personal/social, financial, parenting, health, work, residence, love and marriage, family and friends, criminal/legal, and school. For the urban sample, the most frequently reported stressors in descending order were financial, personal/social, parenting, environment, work, residence, health, love and marriage, family and friends, criminal/legal, and school. Stressful life events that only rural women reported included getting or losing a pet, severe weather or natural disaster, change in spouse/partner's work, change in nature or size of community, and change in arguments with spouse/partner. Stressful life events identified only by urban women included weight change, addition of a new family member, household convenience, change in work responsibilities, and change in living conditions. Bigbee suggested that these findings indicate that the most common stressors for the rural women were associated with the community or spouse/partner, while the most common stressors for the urban women were related to personal, family, home, and work.

Mansfield, Preston, and Crawford (1988) looked at psychological well-being in rural and urban women living in Pennsylvania. The random sample consisted of 75 women from a rural county and 78 women from an urban county. Structured telephone interviews were conducted with the women. Five variables, stress, strain, tension, exhaustion, and life satisfaction, were used to measure psychological well-being. The questions in the interview were intended to elicit information about stress the participants experienced in the last year and to what the stress was related. Questions were also aimed at determining how satisfied they were with their life, and whether they experienced mental or physical exhaustion, felt strain or tension. Women who were employed were also asked information about potential work stressors. Like Bigbee's 1987 study, Mansfield et al. found that rural and urban women experienced the same types of stress and the same degree of stress. Both rural and urban women reported their most significant stressors were related to family and friends followed by stressors related to work. Two elements of socioeconomic status, income and education, predicted stress for the rural women; those with a higher socioeconomic status reported higher levels of stress. In addition, as the number of children at home increased, so did the level of stress that the rural women experienced. Neither socioeconomic status or number of children at home were predictors of stress for the urban sample.

Summary

In summary, a number of studies have addressed the concept of distance in relation to health care behaviors. However, the results have been conflicting. While some studies have shown that an increase in distance from health care facilities impacts health care utilization, other studies and literature have supported the idea that rural individuals are accustomed to traveling long distances for health care and that it does not affect their use of health care services. Other rural health literature has focused on the concept of self-care and self-reliance and indicated that rural individuals may frequently practice self-care behaviors while gauging the seriousness of an illness or injury. Rural health authors have suggested that rural individuals preferred the help of informal networks and often turn to family and friends for advice on health care issues as well as involve them in the evaluation of illnesses or injuries. Rural health authors and researchers have also indicated that rural dwellers may define health differently than their urban counterparts and that land-based work and lack of insurance may impact how and when they seek formal health care.

Fewer studies have addressed health issues of rural women, particularly women of childbearing/childrearing age. The studies found on rural women tended to focus on stress, increasing incidence of rural women working outside the home, their multiplicity of roles, and the resulting risk of illness. Research indicated that although rural women are experiencing role proliferation as they enter the workforce, role proliferation alone did not increase the incidence of illness episodes in rural women. In addition, rural research

has shown that although rural women may experience unique stressors, overall rural and urban women reported similar types of stress. Finally, there is little evidence to suggest that there is a relationship between rurality and levels of stress or illness.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

Introduction

A grounded theory approach was used to obtain and analyze data for the purpose of exploring the health perceptions, needs, and behaviors of women of childbearing and childrearing age living in remote rural Montana communities. The grounded theory approach is an inductive process that leads to the generation of theory that originates from every day lived experiences and is an appropriate method to use when a paucity of information exists about a phenomenon of interest. The theory assumes that an individual's expression of ideas has meaning (Byrne, 2001; Chenitz & Swanson, 1986; Strauss & Corbin, 1990). Grounded theory provides an appropriate framework for examining the perspectives of rural dweller in their natural setting (Schatzman & Strauss, 1973). This chapter includes a description of the sample, the provision for human subjects protection, and the process of data collection and analysis.

Sample

The convenience sample consisted of 11 women, 28 to 49 years of age who had lived in remote rural communities in Montana for greater than 5 years. Remote rural was defined as "a community with a population of 2,500 or less located 40 miles or further from a city with a population of 50,000 or greater. Remote rural communities do not

have a hospital or medical assistance facility. A practicing physician does not reside in a remote rural community" (Koehler, 1998, pp. 238-239). The initial participants were known to me personally or were identified through personal contacts. Subsequent participants were obtained using the snowball technique. An attempt was made to vary the sample as much as possible by contacting potential participants who comprised the full age range for this study as well as by contacting potential participants from different geographical locations within the state.

Human Subjects Protection

Ethical issues are present in any kind of research and the provision for human subjects protection is essential to maintaining the rights of the participants as well as for achieving the goals of the research (Orb et al., 2001). Therefore, measures were taken to ensure the protection of the participants. Each participant was first contacted by telephone, the study was explained, and they were asked if they would be interested in participating in the study. After interest in participating in the study was established, a time frame for fully considering participation was discussed and agreed upon by the participant and myself. In considering participation, participants were offered written information regarding the purpose of the study as well as a brief description of the procedure. Each participant was given my phone number and were encouraged to make contact if they had any questions regarding the study. During the initial phone contact, if interest was indicated, the individual and I agreed upon a time for me to contact them

again, answer any questions that arose, and if still interested, a time and place for the interview to take place was established.

During the face-to-face meeting and prior to the interview, the participant was given a consent form that included the purpose of the study, a description of their involvement, permission to audiotape the interview, the procedure for maintaining confidentiality, the risks and benefits of participating in the study, and the right to withdraw consent at any time. Again, an opportunity to ask questions was offered. The consent form was signed prior to the start of the interview and the participant was given a copy (see Appendix A).

In some cases, face-to-face interviews were not feasible because of geographical distance between the participant and myself. In this instance, after interest in participation was established during the initial phone contact, the consent form and a copy of the consent form were mailed to the individual along with a stamped return envelope addressed to me. Again, each individual was encouraged to contact me if they had any questions regarding the study prior to returning the written consent. After the written consent was received, a second telephone call was made in order to establish a time to call the participant to conduct the interview via telephone.

Interviews were audiotaped and transcribed as soon as possible after each interview; audiotapes were destroyed following transcription. The names of the participants were not a part of the transcript. Each participant was assigned an identification number, known only by me. The demographic data was transcribed separately from the interview and assigned the corresponding identification number. The

demographic information was reported in summary tables and included ranges for the specified demographic variable.

No benefits were promised to the participants of the study. However, through the interview, the participants had an opportunity to explore their own perspectives on health and may have benefitted from the opportunity to discuss issues of importance to them. A potential risk exists when data are reported that participants may be recognized through their verbalized experiences. Participants were therefore offered a copy of the transcribed interview to review and were encouraged to contact me if they felt there were any miscommunication or errors in the transcript, or if they had any other concerns regarding the transcribed interview.

Data Collection

Data were collected through semi-structured interviews with the participants; 4 in a face-to-face setting and 7 by telephone. All interviews were conducted in the same manner using the same semi-structured interview format (see Appendix B). The questions were open-ended and were intended to elicit information regarding the participants' health perceptions, needs, and behaviors and how their perceptions and conceptualizations of health impacted their health behaviors. The initial body of questions were adapted with permission from an interview guide developed by Drs. Lee and Winters for their study, Rural Health Needs and Perceptions. Due to the population of interest in this study, additional questions were developed based on a review of literature specific to women of childbearing/childrearing age. Demographic data were

collected that pertained to personal and location information. Personal information included age, marital status, number of children, level of education, employment outside the home occupation, and insurance status. Location information included number of years in the community, size of the community, miles to nearest large town or city, miles to regular health care provider, and miles to emergency care (see Appendix C).

The interviews took place during January and February of 2002. Interviews lasted from 25 to 90 minutes. The participants were informed that I might contact them again by phone following the interview to confirm or clarify what had been said.

Data Analysis

The qualitative data were analyzed for common themes using the methodological technique of grounded theory known as constant comparison. First, the transcribed interviews were read in their entirety. The interviews were then read line by line and paragraph by paragraph during which comparisons were continually made between the data obtained. During the process of coding, catchy or meaningful words that the participants used were highlighted and open coding began. Open coding is the process in which each sentence and each verbalized incident is broken down, examined, and compared for similarities and differences. The substantive codes, which were often the exact words used by the participant, were labeled as concepts or themes. The identified codes, concepts, and themes were then grouped into categories of higher levels of abstraction (Chenitz & Swanson, 1986; Hutchinson, 1986). Memos were made to describe possible relationships between codes and categories. Data were analyzed until

all the codes, concepts, and categories were complete or saturated and no new information was discovered (Byrne, 2001; Chenitz & Swanson, 1986; Hutchinson, 1986).

Demographic data were analyzed by reviewing the responses to personal and geographic location information and noting the frequency of each response. The range and mean for age, level of education, number and ages of children living at home, years in the community, and distance to emergency care were calculated by hand. Other demographic information including marital status, religious preference, ethnic background, employment outside the home, and health insurance status were also noted for frequency. The results are reported in Chapter 4.

CHAPTER 4

FINDINGS OF THE STUDY

The findings of the study are reported in this chapter. So that the reader will more fully understand the context in which the study was conducted, demographic characteristics of the sample are reported first. The emergent themes related to the health needs, perceptions, and behaviors of remote rural Montana women are then discussed.

Demographics

The sample consisted of eleven women, ranging in age from 28 to 49 years of age with a mean age of 37.7 years. Age categories for the women are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Age Categories of Rural Sample (N = 11).

Age Categories*	<u>n</u>
18 to 29	2
30 to 39	4
40 to 49	5

^{*}Mean age of 37.7 years

Education completed ranged from 12 to 18 years (M = 14.7 years). The sample is more educated than the general population of Montanans. Six of the 11 women (54%) hold a Bachelor's degree and one has a Master's degree, while estimated 11.7 % of the general Montana population have baccalaureate degrees (U.S. Census Bureau, 2000, online). Table 2 on the following page shows level of education.

<u>Table 2.</u> Education Levels of Rural Sample (N = 11).

Education level	<u>n</u>
High school graduate	4
Bachelor's degree	6
Master's degree	1

All eleven women in the study were married. Two women worked full-time outside the home, five worked part-time, and two women were not employed outside the home. Four of the women were Catholic, two were Lutheran, one was Methodist, two indicated they were Christian, and two stated no religious preference. Three of the women stated they identified with particular ethnic backgrounds; eight women stated they did not identify with a particular ethnic background. All the women who reported on ethnicity stated multiple ethnic backgrounds. All of the women were Caucasian.

All of the women had children and all but one woman had children living at home. For the women with children at home, the number of children in the household ranged from one to five. All together the entire sample of women had 27 children between them and there were a total of 23 children living at home (M = 2.3). The age of the children who lived at home ranged from 2 months to 17 years of age (M = 7.7 years). The number of children in the home and the age categories for the children living at home are reported in Tables 3 and 4 on the following page.

Table 3. Number of Children in the Home

Number of children*	Number of Participants		
5	1		
3	2		
_2	5		
1	2		
0	. 1		

^{*}Mean of 2.3 per household

Table 4. Age Categories of Children Living at Home (N = 23).

Age categories for children*	<u>n</u>
15 - 18 years	2
11 - 14 years	7
7 - 10 years	3
3 - 6 years	6
Less than 3 years	5

^{*}Mean age of 7.7 years

All the women lived in rural communities with a population of 850 or less. The women had lived in their respective communities from 5 to 40 years with an average length of time in the rural community of 17.9 years. The number of years the women lived in the rural community is shown in Table 5.

Table 5. Years Lived in the Rural Community (N = 11).

Years in community*	<u>n</u>
5 - 9 years .	3
10 - 14 years	2
15 - 19 years	2
20 - 24 years	1
25 - 29 years	1
35 - 39 years	1
Greater than 39 years	1

^{*}Mean of 17.9 years

Nine of the women had insurance and two did not have any insurance. Of the two women who reported no health insurance, one was part of a family self-employed in farming and the other participant's husband worked for various individuals who did not provide insurance coverage. Cost was stated as the major factor for lack of insurance. For the nine women with health insurance, seven were part of a family involved in farming, ranching, or small business and all seven women reported that their insurance had a high deductible and premium.

Accessibility to emergency care was analyzed in terms of miles traveled and travel time, one way. Weinert and Boik (1998) identified that emergency care in a rural state such as Montana can be provided in a variety of ways including care in the Emergency Room at a small hospital or a community clinic. Distance to emergency care is preferred over distance to other health care services as a measure of rurality because in an emergency situation, the nearest source of assistance is sought while in non-emergency situations, rural individuals may by-pass the local hospital or clinic to seek care in a large community with more specialized services.

Distance to emergency medical care ranged from 10 miles to 114 miles (M = 44.8 miles) with travel time ranging from 12 minutes to 2 ½ hours, one way. The participants cited the hospital or medical assistance facility located in the nearest large town with this available service and ambulance service to the nearest town as their source of emergency care. In addition, the participants identified local individuals with medical training as a source of assistance in an emergency situation. Rural road conditions, weather conditions, geography, and road construction were some of the variables influencing travel time to

emergency care in Montana. The number of miles traveled and approximate travel time to emergency care for the sample are shown in Table 6.

Table 6. Number of Miles & Travel Time One Way for Emergency Care of Rural Sample (N = 11)

Builpie (11 11)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Number of travel miles	Approximate travel time	. <u>n</u>
for emergency medical	in minutes (one way)	
care (one way)*	<u>· </u>	
Greater than 79 miles	Greater than 120 minutes	1
70 - 79 miles	80 - 90 minutes	1 .
60 - 69 miles	65 - 75 minutes	2
40 - 49 miles	40 - 50 minutes	. 2
30 - 39 miles	35 - 45 minutes	2
10 - 19 miles	12 - 20 minutes	3

^{*}Mean of 44.8 miles one way

A composite of the study subject would be a married Caucasian female, with health insurance, who has two young school age children at home, most likely of Catholic or Protestant faith, with a college education, living in a Montana community with a population of 850 or less for over 17 years, and traveling a distance of 45 miles one way for emergency care.

Emergent Themes

Seven themes emerged from the data; distance as a way of life, distance as a disadvantage in an emergency, episodic evaluation, children first, prevention for life, access within reason, and holistic health.

Distance as a Way of Life

The participants identified that distance, although an inconvenience at times, was not a disadvantage in everyday life. Most of the participants had lived in a rural environment for many years and were accustomed to the ways of rural life and distance was one part of rural life. The rural women accepted that they lived some distance from health care as well as from a variety of general services such as grocery stores. The women "planned ahead" and realized if they were making dinner and were missing an item, they were not able to run to the store to pick it up. At times this was noted to be inconvenient, but "just the way it is." The women reported "enjoying the lifestyle" that a rural environment provided and the small inconvenience that distance presented in some circumstances was worth it to live in a rural setting. The following comments were made about distance in every day situations:

I think the distance thing, for a lot of people, they just don't understand it. But I think when you have lived around it your whole life, that is just the way it is. You know the distance is there. Just like not having a grocery store down the street. You just deal with it. You kind of prepare yourself and you just know that is the way it is.

It would be nice if you didn't have to drive, but that is just our lifestyle and you get use to it and you just do it because that is the way you live.

We are use to driving the distance. To somebody who maybe lived in town or only a few blocks away then moved out to the country it would seem a real long distance. We have just lived that way all our lives. We were raised here so it just seems natural I guess.

Routine Health Care

Distance was also not seen as a disadvantage when seeking routine health care.

The women reported that distance did not deter them from seeking health care or cause a delay in seeking health care.

I don't think we would be more apt to go to the doctor more even if we were closer. We still get good healthcare. I don't think living out here has hurt our healthcare any just because we live forty miles from the nearest hospital or doctor.

If we are sick, if one of the kids is sick, we are going to go to the doctor if we need to. You just get use to living out here so it doesn't make a difference. I mean you think 30 miles, you know you are going to drive there if you are sick and need the health care services or whatever. Just like you do to go out to pizza, you drive to healthcare.

I guess I feel when I need to go to the doctor, I don't care if it is 50 miles or a 100 miles. I am going to go just because I do want to keep healthy. I don't think distance has that much impact.

The women did not find traveling long distances for routine health care to be a significant issue, as they usually had multiple tasks to accomplish while in the larger town that could not be completed where they lived.

The distance, it doesn't seem very long [70 miles]. Usually we pick up grandma who is half way and we always have something else to do, besides go to the doctor, like get groceries or something, so it doesn't seem bad.

That is kind of the way it is and usually I am going that way anyway as I have to go to get groceries and every other thing I have to do is in that direction.

Childbirth

The woman did not find distance to be a significant concern in regards to their past pregnancies and impending deliveries. Although they took some precautions and had thought about what the distance might mean, no one had specific concerns about their

delivery in light of the distance that needed to be traveled to get to the hospital. The following comment was made about labor and delivery in regards to traveling to the hospital:

It never bothered me living this far out because my mom lived 40 miles from town and she had twelve kids. I thought, well heck, she had twelve kids and I can't believe that I would ever have trouble. Of all the people out here I have never heard of anyone in this area that I know of, and we all live out in the country a long ways, that has ever not made it to the hospital. When you are this far out, you just know you go early. You don't sit and wait.

Another woman who had lived in the country her whole life and was involved in ranching made the following comment about her pregnancies:

I guess growing up 30 miles from town you know what that is like. So living 60 miles from town now, you don't think about it. It is just the way it is. You know that you have miles to travel and you can get there in around an hour and that is just the way it is. You can't worry about it. My husband wasn't concerned about having to deliver the baby if we didn't make it in time. Our big joke was that he was going to bring the calf pullers in. That is just a typical rancher. We deal with animals all the time. Calving and foaling and little animals and birthing and the whole reproductive situation. I guess it is just a natural thing. It is not something that you dwell on. You think about it, what if something happens, but like I said, you just deal with it if something happens.

Another woman talked about taking precautions during labor when considering the distance to the hospital. "I would not worry about the distance, but I would take precautions. There could be a terrible snowstorm and you surely wouldn't want to wait until the last minute to go."

Some woman made plans to come to town early in their labor and stay with family or friends until they felt they needed to go to the hospital. This type of planning allowed them the comfort of knowing they were within minutes of the hospital without having to go to the hospital the minute their contractions started. "We came to town when my labor

started, but we stayed at my parent's house for awhile before we actually went to the hospital, but we were closer that way."

Three of the women chose to have their babies in a larger medical center, rather than the hospital in the nearest community. The woman were accustomed to traveling the longer distance to a medical center for their routine gynecologic care and when they became pregnant, chose to continue their obstetrical care in the larger city despite the fact that they could have delivered closer to home.

I guess I actually chose to do that because I lost a pregnancy. I don't think it was the fault of the healthcare providers here, but just because I had that type of pregnancy, I decided I would rather go to an OB-GYN. I started going to the OB-GYN before my first son was born and I just decided to stay with him for my pregnancies.

Another woman related her experience with her decision to bypass the nearest hospital and go on to a larger city for her deliveries.

I had debated about going into town to have my first baby because there was a medical doctor there and they were capable of delivering at that time. I decided not to, I would just go on and drive to Miles City. I am glad I did because there would be no way he would be here today if I would have stopped in town. When I had him, they were having trouble picking up the heartbeat and said I had to have a C-Section. The cord came down along side of his face and got pinched off. This was on a Saturday and they had to call in the anesthesiologist and everybody and it didn't take long. In town, that would never have happened. First of all, they couldn't have done surgery and I don't know if they even had the monitors like in Miles City so I don't know if they would have even picked up the problem. By the time they would have picked it up, it would have probably been way too late. And then they would still have had to transport me to Miles City. So for my next baby I thought, well forget it, we are going to go the bigger hospital where they can deal with problems.

Another issue the women consistently identified in regards to planning for their labor and delivery was that their health care provider was in tune to the fact that they

lived some distance from the hospital and helped them plan ahead for their delivery. The women reported that their doctor gave them advice such as, "come in when things start," or "head to town, don't just wait." The women seemed more comfortable with the distance because of their relationship with their health care provider and the fact that he appreciated their situation. The women took precautions suggested by their doctor, but didn't find themselves overly concerned with the distance involved in traveling while in labor.

If someone tells you to leave your house when your contractions are five minutes apart, well that could make for a baby born in the car half way there. The doctors realize that and know that even if you are racing, it is a good two hour drive and at night or with bad roads, you cannot go that fast. So you leave early, right away, and they know you are coming that far and help you know it is important to leave when things start.

Before my first baby was born, they told me some things to do just as a precaution. They said put blankets in your car and some clean towels. Get one of those little aspirator things and then if it happens that you deliver on the road, just wrap the baby up. Use clean towels and plain receiving blankets and just lay him there. Don't worry about the cord, just leave that alone and wrap the baby up and lay him there and aspirate the nose and mouth.

When considering distance during pregnancy, factors that could cause a delay in their travel, such as weather and road construction, were recalled. "It was in the back of our mind, what if a storm comes or whatever. You think about it a little bit, but you know also realizing that comes with this lifestyle." Another stated:

We got there in plenty of time and it was fine. But you always do kind of worry about it. What are the roads going to be like? My first was born the end of March so you wonder, what are the roads going to be like. My youngest was born in the summer, but there was road construction and I thought, what if this happens when I am in labor.

One woman chose home births for the delivery of her last three children. She felt more comfortable delivering at home with a midwife. She indicated that in addition to personal preference, cost and lack of insurance were factors that influenced her decision to give birth at home. She also did not feel distance to the hospital was an issue.

I always felt comfortable giving birth at home and prefer that to a hospital setting where everything is so structured. I realize we are some distance from the hospital, but the first sign of any trouble or things not progressing as they should, we would have headed right there.

Chronic Illness

Two of the woman had experienced breast cancer in recent years. Although both women had access to healthcare providers and a hospital within 15 miles, they were forced to travel longer distances to a larger medical center to receive care for their cancer. Both women traveled a distance of 60 to 80 miles, one way, five days a week for six weeks for radiation treatment. One of the women had to travel for chemotherapy as well. Their perspective on traveling for healthcare for treatment of a disease was somewhat different from the rest of the sample who only traveled for routine healthcare, and on a much less frequent basis. For the two women with breast cancer, traveling the longer distance was seen as even more of an inconvenience and somewhat of a disadvantage when considering access to healthcare. Both women discussed that although the daily travel was an inconvenience, both stated that the support of friends and neighbors in the community was an advantage that balanced out the situation for them.

One problem is that we are kind of far away from certain medical facilities that we might need, but in my case at least making the 80 mile trip for radiation did work out really well because I had the advantage of friends and neighbors who were

really helpful. I think that is one advantage of the rural situation. The more specialized things you need to go farther away for. They can handle most things locally, but if you have cancer or heart problems or something that requires more specialized care, then you have to go farther away. You are at a disadvantage in some ways because you are farther from care, but you have got good friends and neighbors to help you out too. I think that is the advantage that maybe people in a larger area wouldn't have.

Traveling to Billings everyday was tiring, but the community that I live in is unbelievable. I had a ton of people that just offered to drive me, so we had a schedule of who would drive me which days. Everybody in a small community just all pull together and help each other out.

In summary, although distance was occasionally viewed as an inconvenience, all the women were accustomed to traveling some distance for general services, routine health care services, and for the delivery of their children. If health care was needed, it was obtained. Distance to health care services did not result in a delay in seeking care, if the care was deemed necessary. In regards to obstetrical care, the woman indicated they planned ahead and took some precautions for their upcoming delivery, but distance was not a significant concern during their pregnancies.

Distance as a Disadvantage in an Emergency

All of the women verbalized that distance was a distinct disadvantage in the case of an emergency. The women were aware that distance presented the risk of serious consequences to their health and the health of the family, or even death, in an emergency situation. Time was of the essence in an emergency situation, whether it be illness or injury related. In an emergency they noted, "It would take you awhile to get somewhere," and "It takes time for them to get to you." One woman stated, "You know the distance is